FILED 02-08-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

Appeal No. 2022AP2051-CR

JACOB R. BEYER,

Defendant-Appellant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Mark A. Eisenberg State Bar Number: 01013078 EISENBERG LAW OFFICES, S.C. 308 E. Washington Avenue P. O. Box 1069 Madison, WI 53701-1069 (608) 256-8356

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant Jacob R. Beyer

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
STATEMENT OF THE CRITERIA IN § 809.62(1) WHICH SUPPORT GRANTING THE PETITION viii
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ARGUMENT
I. THE DEPRIVATION OF AN OPPORTUNITY TO FORENSICALLY EXAMINE THE STATE'S COMPUTER AND UIS VIOLATED BEYER'S SUPERSEDING DUE PROCESS RIGHTS.
CONCLUSION
APPENDIX
DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DATED AND FILED JANUARY 11, 2024 A-1
DEMAND FOR ADDITIONAL DISCOVERY AND INSPECTION
ORDER ON MOTION TO SUPPRESS A-44

DECISION AND ORDER ON DEFENDANT'S
MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION A-45
JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND
SENTENCE A-47
ORDER STAYING EXECUTION OF
SENTENCE PENDING APPEAL
United States v. Crowe, 2013WL12335320
(D.N.M. Apr. 3, 2013)
II : 1 Company Company
United States v. Gonzales,
No. CR1701311001PHXDGC,
2019 WL 669813 (D. Ariz. Feb. 19, 2019) A-58
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
TIDEE OF TOTTION TED

 Case 2022AP002051

Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 92 S.Ct. 763, 31 L.Ed.2d 104 (1972)
State v. Harris, 2004 WI 64, ¶ 12, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 94–95, 680 N.W.2d 737, 745
State v. Maday, 179 Wis. 2d 346, 354, 507 N.W.2d 365, 369 (Ct. App. 1993)
State v. Miller, 256 Wis.2d 80, 89, 2002 WI APP ¶12 29
State v. Schaefer, 2008 WI 25, 20, 308 Wis. 2d 279, 291, 746 N.W.2d 457, 463
<i>United States v. Bagley</i> , 473 U.S. 667, 682, 105 S. Ct. 3375, 3383, 87 L. Ed. 2d 481 (1985)
United States v. Budziak, 697 F.3d 1105, 1112-13 (9th Cir. 2012)
United States v. Crowe, 2013WL12335320 (D.N.M. Apr. 3, 2013)
United States v. Gonzales, No. CR1701311001PHXDGC, 2019 WL 669813 (D. Ariz. Feb. 19, 2019) 24,25,26
<i>United States v. Liebert</i> , 519 F.2d 542, 547–48 (3d Cir.1975)
<i>United States v. Pirosko</i> , 787 F.3d 358 (6th Cir. 2015)

<i>United States v. Price</i> , 75 F.3d 1440 (10th Cir. 1996) 24
Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967)
<i>United States v. Valenzuela–Bernal</i> , 458 U.S. 858, 867, 102 S.Ct. 3440, 3447, 73 L.Ed.2d 1193 (1982)
<u>Statutes</u>
Wis. Stat. §971.23 v, vii,4,5,16,19,20,29
Wis. Stat. § 971.23(1)(g) ix
Wis. Stat. § 971.23(5)
Wis. Stat. 948.12(1m)
Other Materials
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 16 18
United States Constitution, Fourth Amendment 18,22,28
United States Constitution, Fifth Amendment
United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment
United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment 17

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 6 of 43

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court and the Court of Appeals err in denying Beyer's request for an order permitting forensic analysis of the State's investigative computer system in order to challenge its reliability after that computer allegedly detected a single file containing child pornography which constituted the primary basis for law enforcement's application for a search warrant of Beyer's home and electronic devices, even though said file was never recovered or produced following execution of the search warrant?

Beyer submits that this denial violated his due process rights under the 5^{th} , 6^{th} , and 14^{th} amendments to the United States Constitution in that it deprived him of a meaningful opportunity to pursue a motion to suppress and thereby to mount and present a complete defense . Beyer further submits that, in the context of a situation where a warrant affidavit alleges a computerized detection of a singular item of evidence justifying the issuance of search warrant and said evidence subsequently proves to be unfound or undetected in the course of executing the warrant, the right to mount a complete defense and therein challenge the reliability of the inceptive computerized detection supersedes the dictates of Wis. Stat. §971.23 and should allow

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 7 of 43

for a defense analysis of the computer system at issue. Beyer urges this Court to find that denying him the ability to forensically analyze the State's computer system on the grounds that the State did not intend to offer evidence relating to the missing file at trial effectively rendered the meaningful pursuit of a motion to suppress an impossibility as it allowed him no means of interrogating the reliability or credibility of the source from which the inceptive inculpatory information and allegations originated, which should be deemed tantamount to a deprivation of due process. Beyer would assert that, in any adjacent investigatory context, the wholesale foreclosure of any opportunity to challenge the credibility or reliability of the solitary source of inculpatory information underlying a search warrant as a matter of course would be deemed constitutionally impermissible.

In the trial court, Beyer asked for an opportunity to forensically analyze the State's computer utilizing undercover investigative computer software ("UIS") which allegedly established a peer-to-peer ("P2P") connection with a device at Beyer's registered internet protocol ("IP") address and executed a single-source download of a single file containing child pornography from the publicly accessible "shared" contents of that device. Though that allegedly illicit file could not be recovered after the execution of the search warrant at Beyer's residence, and despite the parties' apparent agreement both that the software involved was vulnerable to malware and that the alleged file's existence or absence at the relevant place and time

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 8 of 43

could likely be ascertained via forensic analysis of the investigative computer, the trial court denied Beyer's discovery request for forensic analysis of the computer pursuant to Wis. Stat. §971.23. Despite Beyer's invocation of his constitutional right to that discovery pursuant to the guarantees of due process, the trial court found that Beyer was not entitled to the discovery as the State did not intend to offer evidence of the missing image at trial.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision, dismissing Beyer's "novel argument" that due process warranted the forensic analysis of the State's computer system while reiterating the notion that the fact that his request did not directly implicate "trial evidence" reduced the constitutional concern for scrutiny or redress. Regardless, and despite acknowledging that Beyer's expert witness testified that the UIS was subject to malware which could be used to manipulate files on Beyer's computer, the Court found that Beyer had failed to establish the necessary materiality or a reasonable probability of a different outcome which would warrant a reversal of the trial court decision on constitutionality grounds (A: 15-16).

STATEMENT OF THE CRITERIA IN § 809.62(1) WHICH SUPPORT GRANTING THE PETITION

This Court should accept review of this case for the following reasons:

- 1. A real and significant question of constitutional law is presented concerning a defendant's right to pretrial discovery in the context of prosecutions underpinned by the use of undercover investigative software, which is a relatively novel and rapidly evolving area of law enforcement investigations.
- 2. A decision by the Supreme Court will help clarify and reconcile this State's discovery statutes with a defendant's due process rights under federal law in a novel area of concern which will have statewide impact as conflict over what discovery a defendant is entitled to in child pornography prosecutions, largely due to the inscrutability of the underlying law enforcement tools of investigation, repeatedly arises in such cases.
- 3. The Court of Appeals' reasoning in its decision on the issue presented is circular and unworkable in light of due process jurisprudence—a defendant in Beyer's position cannot ever demonstrate "a potential violation of his rights" by a specific law enforcement apparatus if he or she is categorically deprived of any means of meaningfully interrogating the

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 10 of 43

reliability or credibility of that apparatus. The State, by deft exploitation of the "intends to offer...at trial" provision of Wis. Stat. § 971.23(1)(g), avoids any scrutiny of its frequent inability to recover the specific evidence allegedly detected by its undercover investigative software by simply electing to only issue charges for other materials that are found upon execution of warrants based on those unconfirmed alleged detections. By allowing this system of proceeding to persist, courts are essentially endorsing the idea that the "ends justify the means" in these cases, which is antithetical to the notion of due process and the exclusionary rule.

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 11 of 43

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals recitation of the facts is not detailed and therefore Beyer feels compelled to supplement it to some extent here. On October 28, 2017, between 9:53 a.m. and 9:55 a.m., Special Agent Lenzner of the Wisconsin Department of Justice Criminal Division, through the utilization of undercover investigative software ("UIS") on a peer-to-peer ("P2P") BitTorrent network, allegedly downloaded a single video file which he subsequently identified as child pornography from a "Suspect Device" connected to the network with IP Address 71.90.79.138. (R.55:15-25). On October 30, 2017, Agent Lenzner submitted an administrative subpoena to Charter Communications for subscriber information for the IP address associated with the downloaded file. (R.55:15). On November 21, 2017, Charter Communications responded to the subpoena and indicated that the subscriber for that particular address was Jacob Beyer, (R.55:15).

On December 6, 2017, the State applied for a search warrant, chiefly premising the application upon the alleged acquisition of the single file of child pornography through the State's UIS (Roundup Torrential Downpour Receptor) and a description of the video content. The application also included a summary explanation of how child pornography may be tracked and/or disseminated through P2P networks, as well as a general representation that the investigatory ambit of the UIS is limited to the "shared" folders of other peers on the network

1

which are otherwise publicly accessible for all network users. (R.55). Finally, the application averred that there was a "fair probability" of recovering the contraband digital data even after "the passage of long periods of time" because

individuals who have an interest in child pornography or child sexual exploitation tend to retain any images or videos they obtain that depict such activity or maintain their interest in such depiction so it can be reasonably expected that similar evidence of that sexual interest in children or interest in child sexual exploitation will be found in their computer(s) or other digital devices or storage media, or found in other forms in their private places. (R.55:17).

Beyond the representation that a single file of child pornography was obtained from a device traced to Beyer's IP address, the warrant application did not offer any further information to qualify Beyer as a individual "who ha[s] an interest in child pornography or child sexual exploitation." Moreover, the application did not specify whether there was any indication that Beyer ever opened, viewed, or modified the illicit file in question, nor did it indicate that any other known files of child pornography could be traced to the relevant IP address.¹

At trial on August 30, 2022 the State's forensic expert testified that she could not determine if Beyer ever knew the illicit file was on his device (R. 175:46), and Lenzer testified to the same at the suppression hearing (R.66:27-8)

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 13 of 43

The Search warrant was executed on Beyer's premises on December 7, 2017. (R. 55:19). Based on the contents recovered from Beyer's electronic devices, he was subsequently charged with ten counts of Possession of Child Pornography pursuant to Wis. Stat. 948.12(1m) in a Criminal Complaint filed on December 8, 2017. (R.1).

Beyer filed a "Demand for Additional Discovery and Inspection" on February 26, 2018, which included a request to view the State's computer and UIS that was utilized in the investigation precipitating the Complaint. (R.18). The State refused to accede to this request, and so on December 18, 2018, Beyer formally filed a "Motion to View the State's Computer and Its Undercover Software." (R.50). In his motion, Beyer indicated that his forensic computer expert, Juanluis Villegas, had been permitted to make a copy of Beyer's hard drive at the offices of the Department of Criminal Investigation on October 5, 2018. (R.50:2-3). However, in his subsequent analysis of that hard drive, Villegas had been unable to locate any file with the SHA-1 hash value corresponding with the file allegedly detected

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 14 of 43

by Agent Lenzner on October 28, 2017. (R.50:2-3). Accordingly, Beyer asked the trial court for an Order permitting his forensic expert "to look at the State's computer with the hardware and software configuration and settings it had on the dates and times the agent claims he detected the evidence of child pornography" to confirm that the file that Agent Lenzner purportedly viewed did actually exist at the relevant time and location. (R.50:3).

The State subsequently filed a "Motion to Deny the Defense Motion to Inspect," arguing that Beyer had not articulated a proper legal basis for his request. (R.53). Beyer responded via correspondence dated January 15, 2019, asserting both that due process required the requested disclosures and that the trial court had the authority to order the State to comply with the request under Wis. Stat. § 971.23. (R.54). Essentially, he argued that he was entitled to the discovery necessary to ascertain the validity of the allegations contained in the search warrant. (R.54). Beyer specifically invoked his right to put on a "complete" defense and contended that he had demonstrated the requisite "materiality" so as to compel the disclosures that he was requesting. (R.54).

On January 22, 2019, the trial court held a motion hearing on the discovery dispute. (R.95). The State argued that there was no statutory basis for Beyer's request on the grounds that it did not intend to introduce any evidence pertaining to the allegedly detected file at trial. (R.95:6-13). Beyer argued otherwise, analogizing the situation to cases involving drug detection dogs,

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 15 of 43

asserting that he would have a right to inspect a given dog's records in order to interrogate the reliability of a given sniff or alert. (R.95:13-15). The trial court ultimately denied Beyer's motion, finding that Wis. Stat. § 971.23 did not require the disclosure of evidence that the State was not going to use at trial. (R.95:24-25). However, the trial court invited Beyer to file a suppression motion to offer testimony through his own experts in support of a challenge to the warrant's validity. (R.95:24-25).

Beyer subsequently filed a "Motion to Suppress" on March 15, 2019, asserting that "(1) the search warrant lacked probable cause in and of itself; (2) the agents relying on the search warrant knew that the search warrant lacked probable cause; and (3) the agents omitted and provided misleading information concerning its undercover investigative software (UIS)." (R.57:1). More pointedly, Beyer argued that the warrant offered very little from which to conclude that Beyer knowingly possessed child pornography, noting the lack of information specific to Beyer vis-à-vis the "collectors" of child pornography described in the application's boilerplate or any information detailing his supposed interaction with the file detected by the UIS. (R.57:3-7). In other words, Beyer contended that extrapolation of probable cause from the alleged detection of a single—presently non-existent—file was unreasonable. He also renewed his request to forensically analyze the State's UIS system, referencing a number of studies detailing the susceptibility of file sharing networks, and specifically BitTorrent, to malware and malicious digital file manipulation.

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 16 of 43

(R.57:12-13;42-57).

The trial court held a hearing on Beyer's motion on March 22, 2019. (R.66). Lenzner testified that in this case, the State utilized Torrential Downpour or Torrential Downpour Receptor, a computer program designed to identify users of the BitTorrent P2P network that are "sharing info hashes containing child pornography." (R.66:13-17). He explained that an info hash could contain one file or "thousands of files" and that "It here is a database of info hashes of child pornography uploaded in the software, and it automatically detects when they're being shared on the BitTorrent network." (R.66:16-17). He stated that he received an alert about a file around October 28, 2017, and noted that the Torrential Downpour program had completed a single-source download of the file. (R.66:17-18; 22). He viewed the contents of the file, a video, and determined that it constituted child pornography. (R.66:17-18; 21-22). He then wrote an administrative subpoena for the IP address after determining that the internet service provider ("ISP") was Charter Communications/Spectrum using an ISP database. (R.66:19-20). The information provided by Charter identified Beyer as the subscriber for the relevant IP address. (R.66:19-20).

Agent Lenzner acknowledged that the file he purportedly viewed before drafting the administrative subpoena was not found on any of Beyer's electronic devices seized in the course of the execution of the search warrant. (R.66:22). When queried for an explanation, he stated

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 17 of 43

[f]rom the date of the download, I believe it was October 28th, and the date of the warrant, I believe it was in December, there was a gap there where the party could have deleted the image. I don't know what happened to the image after it was downloaded or where it went, but to the best of my knowledge, I believe it was probably deleted. (R.66:23).

The State proceeded to ask, with respect to P2P cases specifically, "how common is it for you not being able to find the image later on?" (R.66:23). Agent Lenzner replied:

[t]here's been a majority of cases where we went to do the search warrant—so, the time from we get [sic] the download to the time we do the warrant, between that time frame, the sooner we do it, the more likelihood we're going to find that file, but if we're doing search warrants 30 days, 60 days, 90 days down the road and they happen to delete that file or do something with that file, then it's more likely we're not going to find it. (R.66:23).

The State then inquired about 'the normal practice that you've found' with respect to the tendencies of viewers of child pornography to save or delete files, to which Lenzner responded:

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 18 of 43

[e]very target we deal with is different. Some people will keep that in a downloads folder. They'll download it, go back and view it later. After they view it, they will save it somewhere else. They'll delete it. Some people watch it right away and after watching, delete it. Sometimes they'll back it up on other devices to watch later. They'll categorize. Every person we deal with has a different way they categorize or do something with it after they download it. (R.66:23-24).

At that point, the trial court interjected:

[l]et me just interrupt. I thought in the affidavit for the search warrant you both attested to the fact that they don't delete these things, that they keep them, and that's why you had reason to believe that there would be this image and others on his computer. Can you explain the apparent incongruity here? (R.66:24).

Lenzner replied:

[c]orrect. So we deal with different types of offenders, or multiple different types, but the most common we deal with is we have collectors, and we have the people that are going to view right away and delete it. So we never know what kind of offender we're going to have at the time of the warrant. (R.66:24).

The trial court pressed Lenzner, stating, "[y]eah. You didn't mention that in the affidavit though. Why did you keep that out?" (R.66:25). Lenzner explained:

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 19 of 43

I mean, we put the collector portion in there because when people do download files, people back up their stuff, whether they back it up on another hard drive or whatever they do with it, and people that are going to collect it and don't want family members or people living with them to find it or whatever the circumstances will take that and move it to another location. But not every single target we deal with is a collector, but there's a high likelihood that they are. (R.66:25).

On cross-examination, Lenzner admitted that the "collector" language at paragraph 22 of the warrant application was included in every search warrant application filed in these types of investigations, even though he acknowledged that there were actually "two different types" of offenders— "collectors" and "movers or storers"—and that he "did not know [Beyer] was a collector" at the time he viewed the file purportedly downloaded from a device at Beyer's IP address. (R.66:26-27).He also stated that he did not know how the file may have come to be on Beyer's computer or whether Beyer ever actually viewed the file. (R.66:27-28).

In addition, Lenzner conceded that once he obtained a P2P user ID through the UIS, the State could conceivably utilize that information to track what that user was doing on the network and attempt to glean other incriminating, corroborative

evidence from the user's shared files. (R.66:29-30).² He indicated that an IP address merely pertained to the "access point" or "modem" at Beyer's residence, and that any person who had access to the internet through that access point would share that IP address so the UIS-detected activity emanating from that address could not be contemporaneously traced to a specific device. (R.66:31-32).

Ultimately, Lenzner admitted that the only ways to establish whether the file mentioned in the search warrant application existed as alleged were through his testimony or by viewing his computer system and file logs for forensic verification. (R.66:32-33). He conceded that both the UIS and Beyer's P2P client were subject to malware, though he stated that he was not aware of having experienced an "infection" or discernible malfunction on his end. (R.66:33-36).

Following Lenzner's testimony, one of Beyer's forensic experts, Nicholas Schiavo, opined that the fact of the missing file signaled that it either never existed on Beyer's computer or that it was manually deleted and overwritten, contrary to the typical behavior of viewers as described in the warrant application. (R.66:37-40). He stated that he believed it would be

2

At trial on August 30, 2022, Lenzner again indicated that, "if that computer is sharing a known child—known file of child pornography, we could reconnect to that computer again and we could set our program to connect to that IP address when it's publicly sharing child pornography again." (R.175:18).

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 21 of 43

possible to verify that the file was present in Beyer's shared folder at the date and time in question through a forensic analysis of the State's system. (R.66:40). He also explained that a BitTorrent user could unwittingly receive and/or share illicit material by virtue of the program's dynamics: once a user requested a file and began a download, the user automatically began sharing that file even before the user conceivably has the ability to discern whether the file that was received was indeed what the user requested. (R.66:40-41). Schiavo further opined that a given IP address only identifies an internet router, and that any computer connected to the internet and P2P network via that router could have shared any given file traced to that address. (R.66:44).

Finally, Schiavo testified that uTorrent, the BitTorrent derivative that Beyer was alleged to have been using, had a documented programming flaw that "allowed it to be exploited by any user with a web browser." (R.66:45). More specifically, he stated that

[a]nybody that was aware of the exploit could go back to anybody sharing a file and see anywhere on their computer, add files, subtract files, delete files, move them around, and it would appear as if it all happened in the shared folder because the way it works is it allows the bad actor to designate anywhere on the computer as the shared folder and look around and then manipulate it. (R.66:45).

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 22 of 43

When asked by the trial court whether he could establish that the exploit had been employed or abused in Beyer's case, Schiavo explained that the missing file gave him "pause," but he could not do so definitively

[w]ithout seeing the State's computer or knowing if they used the exploit or seeing logs from the State's computer that could tell me what the contents of the shared folder were over a period of time—for instance, if they changed dramatically, that would most likely mean from second to second that they're looking at a different folder but the system is still saying that it's the shared folder. (R.66:46-48).

On cross-examination, Schiavo went on to specifically explain that he could test whether a given exploit was abused by placing benign files in various places on a computer and then attempting to access those files over the torrent network with the State's computer. (R.66:54-55). At the close of testimony, Schiavo's colleague, Juanluis Villegas testified that out of over one-hundred child pornography investigations in which he had been involved, the file alleged to have been seen in order to obtain the search warrant was only charged once or twice. (R.66:62-64).³ He further testified that on approximately fifty-percent of the occasions where said file was not specifically charged, the file was never recovered. (R.66:64-65).

³Presumably so the State would not have to provide the defense with an opportunity to examine the computer pursuant to Wis. Stats. §971.23(5).

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 23 of 43

In argument, the State conceded that the warrant application "could be expanded greatly" but maintained that it still established probable cause by virtue of Agent Lenzner's testimony about the UIS system and his attestation to its reliability. (R.66:66-70). The State asserted that the fact of the missing file was irrelevant to the matter at hand and that Beyer's experts had failed to establish anything more than potential alternate possibilities as to how the file came to be detected by the UIS and subsequently disappeared. (R.66:68; 71-75).

In rendering a decision, the trial court stated that, with respect to evaluating past warrants of a similar nature, "I wish I would have known all this other information that came out today." (R.66:66). It went on to challenge the notion that Beyer had not shown that the application "omitted important factors that the court would have considered prior to issuing this," stating that "[b]oilerplate language is fine as long as it's true. Here the other side of the equation regarding the malware and regarding the other people's access to the computers and some people, a high number of people, delete the information, that would have been helpful, I think, to Judge Hyland, as it would be to me, in evaluating these." (R.66:70-71). In that same vein, the trial court observed that it

Case 2022AP002051 Petition for Review Filed 02-08-2024 Page 24 of 43

almost seems directly implied from the affidavit that the defendant, based upon one image, this one video, was a collector, and all the assertions that follow that were that collectors save them, collectors distribute them, collectors do these things, but there's not any indicia at all that he's a collector from that one piece of evidence, and that seems to be coming up short in terms of the veracity of the affidavit. (R.66:71).

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