Filed 02-16-2024

Page 1 of 8

#### FILED 02-16-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

### IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2022AP2051-CR

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JACOB RICHARD BEYER,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

### **RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2797 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) latorracadv@doj.state.wi.us

### **INTRODUCTION**

The State of Wisconsin opposes Jacob R. Beyer's Petition for Review of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals' opinion affirming the judgment. *State v. Beyer*, No. 2022AP2051-CR, 2024 WL 119337 (Wis Ct. App. Jan. 11, 2024) (unpublished); (Pet-App. 3–41).

A court found Beyer guilty of possession of child pornography after a bench trial. *Beyer*, 2024 WL 119337, ¶ 1. Bever raised three claims on appeal, only one of which he petitions this Court for review, i.e., whether he had a due process right to conduct a forensic analysis of the computer that law enforcement used to develop probable cause in support of a search warrant for his home and electronic devices. (Pet. 6.)<sup>1</sup> The agent used investigative software to locate files containing child pornography on peer-to-peer file sharing networks. Beyer, 2024 WL 119337, ¶ 7. The agent downloaded a video recording constituting child pornography that was being shared by a device using an IP address associated with Beyer. Id.  $\P\P$  7-8. Based on the agent's information, officers obtained a search warrant and executed it at Beyer's residence. Id. ¶¶ 9–10. Beyer admitted using peer-to-peer software to download child pornography and told the officers the pathname where they could locate the downloaded files. Id. ¶ 10. Officers found child pornography on Beyer's computer, but they did not locate the particular video file that the agent had previously downloaded through his peer-to-peer investigation. Id. ¶11.

The circuit court denied Beyer's motion to allow his expert to conduct a forensic analysis of the agent's computer. Beyer, 2024 WL 119337, ¶ 13. The court of appeals affirmed. Id. ¶ 34 It rejected Beyer's "novel argument" that the circuit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State cites to Beyer's petition by reference to the clerk's electronically assigned page numbers and not Beyer's page designations.

court's denial of his motion violated his due process right to access this evidence and to present a complete defense. *Id.* ¶ 19. The court of appeals noted that while a defendant may have a due process right to exculpatory evidence, a defendant does not have a general constitutional right of discovery of evidence in the State's possession. *Id.* ¶ 22. It also observed that Beyer wanted access to information about the agent's peer-to-peer investigation and that the information obtained through that investigation was "not directly relate[d] to the evidence that the prosecution offered at trial to prove" the child pornography charge. *Id.* ¶ 24. That is, Beyer wanted information material to his challenge to the search warrant but not material to guilt. *Id.* ¶ 25.

Based on its review of U.S. Supreme Court decisions and Wisconsin case law, the court found no authority to support Beyer's argument that he had a due process right to access to evidence for a Fourth Amendment suppression motion. *Beyer*, 2024 WL 119337, ¶¶ 25–26. But even assuming without deciding that Beyer had such a right, the court of appeals determined that the equivocal and speculative nature of his expert's testimony did not support his motion for access to the agent's computer. *Id.* ¶ 33.

#### **CRITERIA FOR REVIEW**

Beyer contends that this Court should grant review because his case presents a real and significant question of constitutional law, it will help "reconcile this State's discovery statues with the defendant's due process rights," and the court of appeals' reasoning is unworkable. (Pet. 9–10.)

Contrary to his assertions, Beyer's petition does not merit review under the criteria in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r). Beyer's case is not the case to decide whether a defendant has a constitutional right of access to evidence, including inspecting an investigator's computer, for the purpose of finding something useful to challenge a search. The fact that his argument is novel, as he acknowledges, does not mean that it merits review. *Beyer*, 2024 WL 119337, ¶ 19. Rather, a novel question merits review when it "will help develop, clarify or harmonize the law, and . . . the resolution of which will have a statewide impact." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)2.

Beyer's case will not develop the law or have a statewide impact. To begin, as the State argued and the court of appeals recognized, criminal defendants have limited discovery rights and do not have a general constitutional right of access to evidence. (Plaintiff-Respondent's Br. 26–29); *Beyer*, 2024 WL 119337, ¶¶ 21–28. The court of appeals grounded its rejection of Beyer's novel legal claim in established precedent that limits a criminal defendant's due process right to discovery. *Beyer*, 2024 WL 119337, ¶¶ 22–28.

Beyer misplaces his reliance on federal cases involving access to evidence, because those cases rely on an interpretation of Fed. R. Crim. P. 16 (Rule 16). (Pet. 35.) As the State argued, Beyer identified no Wisconsin statutory equivalent to Rule 16 providing for discovery when the evidence is in "the government's possession, custody, or control" and is "material to preparing the defense." (Plaintiff-Respondent's Br. 28); Fed. R. Crim. P. 16(a)(1)(E). The Constitution only compels the State to disclose evidence that is both favorable to the accused and material to guilt or punishment—a standard that is indisputably higher than Rule 16's. *State v. Wayerski*, 2019 WI 11, ¶ 35, 385 Wis. 2d 344, 922 N.W.2d 468.

Beyer has not made even a minimal showing that he has a constitutional right to access evidence for a nontrial purpose, such as challenging a search. *Beyer*, 2024 WL 119337, ¶¶ 24–26. But even if he had, his case is not the case to explore the parameters of such rights. As the court of appeals recognized, even assuming a constitutional right of access exists, Beyer did not make the necessary showing under his proffered standard that would have justified granting him access to the agent's computer. *Id.*  $\P\P$  29–33.

Bever relied on expert testimony to support his request for access to the agent's computer. As the State argued (Plaintiff-Respondent's Br. 29), his expert's testimony was speculative at best, focused on the "different possibilities" as to how the agent could have downloaded the video file that was not found during the subsequent search of Beyer's computer. (R. 66:39–52.) When pressed on the possibility that malware may have exploited Beyer's computer and manipulated files, the expert provided no evidence for that. (R. 66:47–48, 51.) "[G]iven the equivocal nature of [Beyer's expert]'s testimony regarding mere 'possibilities' regarding what information might be contained on the State's investigative computer, Beyer fail[ed] to establish а reasonable probability of a different outcome for his motion to suppress if he were given access to the computer." Beyer, 2024 WL 119337, ¶ 33.

While Beyer referenced the criminal discovery statute, Wis. Stat. § 971.23, in his petition, Beyer never developed an argument in the court of appeals that he was entitled to access the agent's computer under this statute. As the court of appeals observed, "Beyer does not base an argument on his discovery rights under statutory criminal WIS. STAT. § 971.23(1), which enumerates categories of materials that a district attorney must disclose to a defendant." Beyer, 2024 WL 119337, ¶ 19. By failing to develop an argument in the lower courts about the need to reconcile the State's statutory discovery obligations under section 971.23 with his rights under the Due Process Clause (Pet. 9), Beyer has forfeited this Court's review of his claim. See Wis. Stat. (Rule) = 809.62(2)(a) (requiring petitioner to identify "the method or manner of raising the issues in the court of appeals"); Darryl T.-H. v. Margaret H., 2000 WI 42, ¶ 37 n.5,

234 Wis. 2d 606, 610 N.W.2d 475 (party forfeits review of issue "by failing to raise it before the court of appeals").

Beyer is wrong when he argues that the lower court's decision denying access allows the State to avoid scrutiny of the investigation that led to the search warrant's issuance. (Pet. 9–10.) As the court of appeals observed, the State has a duty to prevent the destruction of apparently exculpatory evidence and may not act in bad faith to preserve potentially exculpatory evidence. Beyer, 2024 WL 119337, ¶ 33 n.13 (citing Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51 (1988); State v. Weissinger, 2014 WI App 73, 355 Wis. 2d 546, 851 N.W.2d 780). Beyer never developed an argument that he had a right of access under these cases. Id. A Youngblood-type claim is therefore waived, as well. But even if he had, the record would not have supported his claim, as his expert's speculative testimony "merely demonstrate[d] the existence of various exculpatory possibilities for how the file shared from Beyer's computer could have gotten there." Id.

Finally, the court of appeals' opinion does not conflict with controlling opinions of the United States Supreme Court or this Court. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d). Rather, the court of appeals' resolution of Beyer's case involved no more than the "application of well-settled principles" to his case's facts. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)1. As such, granting review will not advance this Court's "law-declaring and developing function." State v. Schumacher, 144 Wis. 2d 388, & n.13, 424N.W.2d 672 406 (1988); Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r).

# CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Beyer's Petition for Review.